Supreme Court Copy

SUPREME COURT FILED

S179115

APR - 9 2010

Frederick Ky Uninch Clerk

eputy

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

REBECCA HOWELL,

Plaintiff and Appellant

VS.

HAMILTON MEATS & PROVISIONS, INC.

Defendant and Respondent.

After A Decision By The Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District (Division One)

Case No. DO53620

(Superior Court Case GIN053925; The Hon. Adrienne Orfield)

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Robert F. Tyson, Esq. (SBN 147177) Mark T. Petersen, Esq. (SBN 163962) Kristi Deans, Esq. (SBN 253967)

TYSON & MENDES, LLP

5661 La Jolla Blvd. La Jolla, CA 92037 (858)459-4400

Attorneys for Defendant, Respondent And Petitioner,

HAMILTON MEATS & PROVISIONS, INC.

INTRODUCTION

A. The Collateral Source Rule Must Be Protected

The long-standing collateral source rule must be protected. The collateral source rule should not be abolished or weakened, but rather it should be enforced and strengthened. Allowing plaintiffs to recover the windfall of what their health care insurers **paid** on their behalf does just that. Plaintiffs may recover the benefit of their thriftiness for purchasing insurance, by actually putting in their pockets what their insurers **paid** their medical care providers. While this is a no strings attached, free and clear windfall for plaintiffs, this is the law and it is just.

However, in her attempt to classify medical expenses never paid or owed by anyone as a "collateral source benefit" recoverable as damages under California law, Plaintiff-Appellant REBECCA HOWELL ("Howell") has unsheathed her sword in an aggressive campaign to dismantle the collateral source rule, leaving behind a tattered rule, unrecognizable under any California precedent. Even counsel for the Consumer Attorneys of California admits the appellate court in this action "restated" the collateral source rule. See, Scott Sumner, An Explanation of the Collateral Source Rule, DAILY JOURNAL, Dec. 4, 2009. Defendant-Respondent HAMILTON MEATS & PROVISIONS, INC. ("Hamilton") must now seek the Supreme

Court's assistance in erecting a shield around the collateral source rule to protect it from this onslaught.

Under the collateral source rule, "if an injured party receives some compensation for his injuries from a source wholly independent of the tortfeasor, such payment should not be deducted from the damages which plaintiff would otherwise collect from the tortfeasor." Helfend v. Southern Cal. Rapid Transit Dist. (1970) 2 Cal. 3d 1, 6 [emphases added.] The focus of the collateral source rule is clearly on the plaintiff and what the plaintiff receives from independent sources, such as health insurers. The arguments of Howell focus on everyone but herself. The Helfend court forged the collateral source rule as a shield for plaintiffs, but now the Court needs to shield the rule itself from overzealous plaintiffs.

B. No Detriment To Plaintiff

A plaintiff is only entitled to recover in tort for "detriment" suffered. Cal. Civil Code §3281. The object of a compensatory damages award is to make plaintiff "whole." A plaintiff should not be put in a better position than if no injury had occurred. While Hamilton concedes Howell is entitled to a windfall under the collateral source rule, Howell is not entitled to a "super windfall" that would result from awarding plaintiffs phantom medical expenses never paid or owed to anyone. Fictional expenses, which amounts are neither received as "compensation" from her

health insurer nor "paid" by her or any third party on her behalf, do not constitute "detriment" under California law. Thus, plaintiff is not entitled to recover these amounts.

C. <u>Proper Procedures Were Followed</u>

In the underlying proceedings, the trial court correctly applied the collateral source rule to Howell's damage award, both in evidence and substance. In compliance with the evidentiary aspect of the collateral source rule, the trial court correctly excluded any mention of "insurance" in front of the jury throughout the entire trial. The jury was properly allowed to see the full amount of medical expenses to assess the extent of Howell's injuries and likely used this number as the basis for determining the amount of noneconomic damages. Thus, Howell was privy to a windfall in the noneconomic damages category as well.

The appropriate setting in which to address a reduction of the jury award to include only amounts "paid" or "compensation" received is a post-trial hearing. In a post-trial hearing, the trial court fully complied with the substantive aspect of the collateral source rule. The trial court reduced the medical damages award to the amount of "compensation" Howell received for her injuries from her health insurer. The trial court did not deduct any "payments" made by Howell or her health insurer. While this "double recovery" constitutes a windfall to Howell, Howell was rightfully

entitled to these payments pursuant to the collateral source rule and was so awarded.

D. "Negotiated Rate Differential" Is Not Damages

The newly created term "negotiated rate differential" is a fiction. It does not exist in law and it does not exist in reality. It exists only in the fertile minds of those who may unjustly benefit from it. It is not a detriment to an injured party and is not recoverable. It is a "nondetrimental variant." If the Court does not shield the collateral source rule from this affront, a slippery slope of increasingly greater and greater damage awards will ensue.

The issue of what constitutes recoverable damages under the collateral source rule most certainly would extend beyond medical expenses into other areas of damages. For example, why not let plaintiffs recover the "negotiated rate differential" between the "sticker price" of a car and what was actually paid? Why not let plaintiffs recover lost wages for advertised salaries, not what they were actually paid? Why not make the "list price" or "rack rate" the measure of all damages? Why not make fictional damages the norm and actual harm the fiction? Why stop? The answer is simple. If you do not stop at what is actually paid, then the only limit on fictional damages is the insatiable appetite of those who seek them.

E. No Recovery Of A "Nondetrimental Variant"

As the old English Proverb goes, "[h]e invites future injuries who rewards past ones." Such will be the case if the Court accepts Howell's attempts to profit under the guise of "compensation." Allowing plaintiffs to recover medical expenses which are a "nondetrimental variant" will have the crippling effect of increased litigation, higher insurance premiums, judicial inefficiencies, and heightened business costs. Accordingly, the Court of Appeal decision holding these phantom medical expenses to be "benefits" within the collateral source rule should be reversed. Hamilton respectfully requests the Court's assistance in upholding and protecting the integrity of the collateral source rule.

II.

ISSUES ON WHICH REVIEW HAS BEEN GRANTED

- (1) Is the difference between the gross medical bills and the actual amount voluntarily accepted by the medical provider as payment in full from a plaintiff's healthcare insurer—dubbed the "negotiated rate differential" in the *Howell* decision--a collateral source under the collateral source rule?
- (2) Did the trial court follow proper procedure in determining the reduction of the past medical specials portion of the verdict?

RELEVANT FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. Hamilton *In Limine* Motion Is Denied

Prior to trial, Hamilton filed a motion *in limine* seeking to exclude the introduction of evidence at trial of the "written off" or illusive portions of the medical bills. (1 AA 73-107.) The motion was heard on January 29, 2008 by Superior Court Judge Adrienne Orfield. (1 RT 64:17-69:6.) The court denied the motion, but specifically reserved its right to determine *post-trial* whether the written off portions of the medical bills would be deducted from the past medical expenses award. (1 RT 67:13-16.)

Counsel for Howell specifically agreed to a post-trial procedure to determine the issue, as reflected in the transcript from the *in limine* motion hearing:

The Court: I see this is a post-trial issue. They're entitled to put their bills in front of the jury, whatever you can actually come up with to meet your burden. We can address that post-trial.

Mr. Basile [Plaintiff's counsel]: ...My proposal would be just agree to what the number for past medical bills, and you guys can raise all the other arguments post trial, like if the Court inquired.

Mr. Tyson [Hamilton's counsel]: So we're clear, I assume, it's the Court's position and ruling that the jury gets to see the entire medical bills and so there's no need for us to argue that they just see the reduced one?

The Court: Correct.

Mr. Tyson: You handle that at post-trial Hanif motion.

The Court: Correct.

(1 RT 67:13-16; 68:10-13, 27-28; 69:1-6 (emphasis added).)

Accordingly, the jury received evidence of the *gross* amount of medical expenses as reflected on the medical bills in the amount of \$189,978.63. (2 RT 117:15-118:5; 3 RT 195:16-25.) Howell received a generous general damages award arguably based partially upon the gross amount of the medical bills when the jury awarded \$200,000 for *past* non-economic (general) damages. (1 AA 178, 219.)

B. Post-Trial "Hanif" Motion Filed by Hamilton

After trial by previous agreement, Hamilton filed its motion titled "Post-Trial Motion to Reduce Past Medical Specials Verdict Pursuant to *Hanif v. Housing Authority* (1988) 200 Cal.App.3d 635" (hereafter referred to as "*Hanif* motion") on or about February 15, 2008. The *Hanif* motion included declarations of two personnel qualified to testify as to the gross amounts billed by their respective medical providers, the amounts written off or waived by the medical providers, the zero balance of the accounts,

and that neither provider would pursue Howell for the written off amounts in any manner. (1 AA 123-176.) ¹

In its *Hanif* motion, Hamilton cited California authority to reduce the *past* medical expenses award by \$130,286.90, the amount written off by the medical providers of Howell pursuant to agreement with her medical insurer. (1 AA 123.) The hearing for the *Hanif* motion was initially scheduled for May 2, 2008 by the trial court. (1 AA 192:19-21.)

1. SCRIPPS MEMORIAL HOSPITAL BILLS REDUCED BY \$94,894.42

Evidence at trial demonstrated Scripps Memorial Hospital billed the gross amount of \$122,841.07 for medical services provided to Howell. This information was included in the *Hanif* motion. (1 AA 132-135; 139-146.)

Of this amount, Howell's health insurer (PacifiCare) paid \$24,380.39. (1 AA 139-146, entries identified as ""HMO/PPO Payments"; 1 AA 132:25- 133:2, 23-27; 134:20-24.) Additionally, Howell paid \$3,566.26. (1 AA 139-140 and 145-146, entries identified as "Patient Payment"; 1 AA 132:25- 133:23; 134:20-24.) The balance of the Scripps

¹ For Scripps Memorial Hospital, the declarant was the "Supervisor of Customer Service and Collections from Third Parties" at the hospital. For CORE Orthopedic, the declarant was the knowledgeable employee in the "Accounting Department of CHMB, a medical billing company which provides medical billing services for CORE Orthopedic Medical Center." (1 AA 132-137.)

Memorial bills, amounting to \$94,894.42, was waived or "written off" by Scripps Memorial. (1 AA 139-146, entries identified as "PPO/HMO/CMS/WC MANUAL"; 1 AA 133:4-7; 134:1-4, 26- 135:2; 135:12-18.) No lien has or will be asserted for this amount. (1 AA 135:12-18.) According to the declarant, supported by the submitted exhibits:

No outstanding balance remains on Ms. Howell's account and no further collection will be pursued. Accordingly, Ms. Howell's account is considered closed.

(1 AA 135:16-18.)

2. CORE ORTHOPEDIC GROSS BILLS REDUCED BY \$35,392.48.

Howell's spine surgeon, Dr. Timothy Peppers, is affiliated with CORE Orthopedic Medical Center ("CORE") in Encinitas, California. Dr. Peppers' gross bill for his treatment of Howell related to the accident was \$52,915.14. (1 AA 136-137; 148-175.)

The total amount "adjusted" by CORE, i.e., written off or waived, was \$35,392.48. (1 AA 137:3-7; 148-175.) This amount was a contractual reduction agreed to between Howell's medical insurer and CORE. (1 AA 137:3-7.) Contrary to Howell's allegation, this waived or written off amount will never be sought or collected from Howell. (1 AA 137:9-12.)

The combined amount waived by Scripps Memorial Hospital (\$94,894.42) and CORE (\$35,392.48) was \$130,286.90. Accordingly, Hamilton requested the trial court reduce only the *past* medical expenses portion of the judgment by the waived amount. (1 AA 123-130.)

C. Howell Requested Continuance of the Hanif Motion

The original hearing date for the *Hanif* motion of May 2, 2008 provided Howell with more than 10 weeks' notice (76 days). On April 4, 2008, Howell filed an *ex parte* application to continue the *Hanif* motion and re-open discovery. (1 AA 180-189.) At that time, attorney John Rice "associated in on the case principally to handle the post-trial motion on the *Hanif* issue" for Howell. (5 RT 243:13-15.)

The *Hanif* motion was continued to May 19, 2008. (1 AA 211; 5 RT 253:23-28.) Howell acknowledged the discretion of the court to conclude the matter at one hearing, or a second hearing if necessary. (5 RT 250:1-13.)

At an April 18, 2008 ex parte hearing, counsel for Howell repeated his agreement with the post-trial procedure and propriety of the *Hanif* motion. (1 AA 221-0254.) Specifically, counsel stated:

[Mr. Rice]: And I think we're going to hear the <u>Hanif</u> Motion . . . on the 19th . . . and I think the court has approached this whole issue in a very rational way, let's deal with the substantive-law issues.

(6 RT 259:25- 260, emphasis added.)

D. Howell Admits Her Medical Bills are Paid in Full

Howell filed her opposition to the *Hanif* motion on April 24, 2008. (2 AA 339-463.) Early in her brief, Howell <u>admits her medical bills were extinguished</u>:

In this case, Plaintiff incurred \$189,918.3 in charges the jury found were related to care necessitated by Defendant's negligence. The bills were submitted to PacifiCare and the debts were satisfied pursuant to the contracts between Plaintiff and PacifiCare and between PacifiCare and the treatment providers.

(2 AA 344:28- 345:3, emphasis added.)

Howell's admission of satisfaction is in accord with the declarations submitted by Hamilton in support of the *Hanif* motion, which affirmed Howell's gross medical bills for Scripps Memorial and CORE were satisfied with no remaining balances to be collected from Howell, or anyone else. (1 AA 132-175.)

Howell did not submit any evidence in the trial court to rebut the declarations and documentary evidence (medical bills and written off portions) submitted by Hamilton. It is a moot point given her admission of satisfaction of the medical expenses. Despite her presumed access and ability to obtain her own medical bills and medical insurance information, Howell failed to provide any evidence she faced any risk on the waived portions of the gross bills.

E. The Hanif Motion Was Granted By The Trial Court

The trial court heard the *Hanif* motion on May 19, 2008, some 12 weeks after it was filed by Hamilton. (8 RT 270-335.) The hearing was lengthy and both sides were afforded extensive oral argument. *Id.* The hearing included the denial of a motion for new trial filed by Hamilton. (8 RT 272:13-17.)

Hamilton had filed a motion for new trial and a motion to set aside and vacate the judgment, based on the *Hanif* line of cases, in response to the trial court inadvertently entering judgment previously on March 4, 2008. (1 AA 263-338; 2 AA 464-489.) The judgment was mistakenly entered after Hamilton filed its *Hanif* motion, but prior to its hearing, thus Hamilton preserved its procedural rights to modify the judgment. The trial court acknowledged the inadvertent entry when it stated at the 5/19/08 *Hanif* motion hearing:

[The Court] I do understand that what happened in this matter was that the judgment, the proposed judgment, for whatever reason, was not sent to the defense for review before it got sent to the court.

- ...[B]ecause of the way the that business office works, I was unaware that the <u>Hanif</u> motion had been filed at the time I got the judgment.
- ... As I pondered the fact that the judgment was entered and we do have a <u>Hanif</u> motion and try to determine what's the best way to address the judgment itself, I'm thinking that the better procedure would be to leave the judgment in place now.

If the defense is successful on their argument in any fashion then, and it results in a change in the judgment, we can make that change and I can *nunc pro tunc* it to the date that the judgment was initially signed.

(8 RT 271:28- 272:3; 272:7-9, 13-2.)

Co-counsel for Howell (her husband, Mike Vallee), specifically agreed with the trial court on this point when he stated:

That seems like a fair way to do it. If there is an adjustment [to the judgment], go back to the date and adjust the interest including the judgment, that makes sense.

(8 RT 273:13-16.)

Howell's other counsel also agreed with the trial court's proposed method of modifying the judgment pursuant to the *Hanif* motion:

[The Court]: And does the plaintiff have any objection to proceeding in the manner in which the court has described?

[Mr. Rice]: We do not, Your Honor. I think that's the proper way to do it. I think the defendant, having filed their new trial motion and identifying as a single ground for a motion for new trial, what we've been terming "the Hanif issue," I think that sort of wraps it all up.

And the Court certainly does have the power to *nunc pro tunc* to revise the judgment back to the date that the judgment was first entered.

(8 RT 274:2-13, emphasis added.)

During oral argument on the *Hanif* motion, Howell referred the trial court to "in kind benefits" and contracts between Howell and her medical insurer. (8 RT 293:17- 294:3.) Howell also referred and objected to the declarations and evidence submitted by Hamilton in support of the *Hanif*

motion. The trial court entertained all of Howell's arguments on the issue and even accepted an additional brief on which Howell's counsel had assisted in the *Olsen v. Reid* case, *infra.* (8 RT 308:10-323:20.) At the conclusion of the lengthy oral argument, Howell's counsel voiced satisfaction with the matters submitted to the trial court:

[Court]: Gentlemen, I think we have enough on the record unless you feel that something else needs to be in.

[Mr. Rice for HOWELL]: I don't think so, Your Honor.

[Court]: I'll take the matter under submission and I will try to get you something as soon as I can.

And again, depending on what I decide, then we'll determine what's next. If I feel that if I make a decision that warrants another hearing, then I'll schedule the hearing. If I make a decision that just warrants a reduction of some type, the it will be nunc pro tunc to the time the judgment is filed. [March 4.].

[Mr. Rice]: The only caveat is, we only briefed the substantive law issues. But I think the argument sort of covered most of what would be in the paper anyway.

(8 RT 334:18- 335:14; emphases added.)

The trial court issued its Minute Order dated June 10, 2008 granting the *Hanif* motion in full. (2 AA 553.) The past medical expenses portion of the verdict was reduced by the amount requested by Hamilton, *i.e.*, the "written off" amount, of \$130,286.90. (1 AA 123.) Hamilton served and filed a "Notice of Ruling" on or about July 3, 2008, advising of

the new judgment amount of \$559,691.73 (nunc pro tunc as previously stated by the trial court).² (2 AA 555-560.)

F. Howell's Motion for Reconsideration Denied, But Additional Evidence of Medical Bill Balances Requested

Howell noticed an *ex parte* hearing for July 11, 2008--one month after the *Hanif* decision was issued--requesting reconsideration of the trial court's decision pursuant to the *Olsen v. Reid* case, *infra.* (3 AA 561-570.)

The court denied the reconsideration request, noting the *Olsen* case had been considered and determined non-consequential to the *Hanif* motion. (9 RT 336:11- 337:16.) The court even advised counsel it had read the briefs filed in *Olsen* and other authority. (9 RT 344:23- 345:8.)

The remainder of the *ex parte* appearance was devoted to Howell's request to submit additional "evidence" regarding whether any balances were owed on accounts with the subject healthcare providers Scripps Memorial and CORE. (8 RT 340:9- 359:22.) Howell's counsel admitted at the *ex parte* hearing: "I don't know what CORE is going to do" with regard to whether any balance was due and owing on Howell's account. (9 RT 351:7-8.) Howell provided no evidence at that time of any such balance. Apparently in an abundance of caution, the trial court permitted Howell to file evidence, if any, on this issue. (9 RT 353:7-27.)

² This amount is exclusive of statutory costs awarded to Howell pursuant to *C.C.P.* §1033.5.

On July 15, 2008 Howell filed a Declaration of Michael Vallee (cocounsel and husband of Howell), Evidentiary and Procedural Objections, and a "Supplemental Briefing." (3 AA 571-590; 604-617.) Howell also filed a Declaration of Lawrence Lievense, despite specific instructions by the trial court not to do so, as it would be deemed irrelevant to the *Hanif* motion ruling. (3 AA 591-603.)

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