S179115

SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

REBECCA HOWELL FILED WITH PERMISSION

Plaintiff and Appellant,

ν.

HAMILTON MEATS & PROVISIONS, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent.

On Review of a Putashed Decision by the Fourth Dist. Ct. of Appeal—Div. One Case Number D053620 — Filed November 23, 2009 On Appeal From a Judgment After Jury Verdict and Postjudgment Order San Diego County Superior Court — Hon. Adrienne Orfield — GIN053925

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Gary L. Simms (S.B.N. 96239) LAW OFFICE OF GARY L. SIMMS 2050 Lyndell Terrace — Suite 240 Davis, California 95616-6206 530.564.1640 — Telephone 530.564.1632 — Facsimile glsimms@simmsappeals.com

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

tortfeasors for *earned* collateral benefits such as those purchased by Howell.

In short, no path in logic, reason, or statute leads from *Hanif* to the expansive rule now sought by defendants.

VII. HOWELL'S MEDICAL BILLS WERE RELEVANT TO DETERMINING HER MEDICAL EXPENSES AND OTHER DAMAGES.

Hamilton has equivocated on whether providers' bills should be allowed into evidence. In seeking review, Hamilton argued that "a plaintiff" should never be allowed to present the amount of phantom [gross] medical expenses to a jury." (Petition, p. 27, Hamilton's emphasis.) In its Opening Brief, Hamilton backpedals: "[G]ross medical bills may be submitted to the jury for review " (Opening Brief, p. 52.) Moreover, at trial, Howell's providers' full charges were submitted to the jury, and Hamilton did not object; indeed, Hamilton stipulated to that amount. (4 R.T. 214:15–16.) And in the Court of Appeal, Hamilton argued that the introduction of Howell's medical bills was a ground for affirming the reduction. (Court of Appeal Respondent's Brief, pp. 43–44.) In short, Howell's medical bills were introduced, and Hamilton has acceded to that evidence. Thus, the question of whether a plaintiff's medical bills should be allowed into evidence is moot in this case. But if Hamilton's amici curiae raise the issue, Howell will show in her response to those amici briefs why a plaintiff's medical bills are relevant and admissible.

VII. THE REDUCTION WAS IMPROPER BECAUSE HAMILTON FAILED TO SUBMIT EVIDENCE THAT HOWELL'S PROVIDERS' FULL CHARGES WERE NOT INCURRED AND PAID.

This Court, of course, granted review to resolve a substantive issue of importance to all personal—injury actions. But regardless how the Court resolves the broad issue, the reduction in this case was error on procedural and evidentiary grounds. Howell will first address the evidentiary shortcoming.

Defendant's premise is that Howell should not be able to recover for charges she never incurred in the first instance. But that premise is missing in this case because defendant failed to present any evidence that Howell did not incur the full amount of her healthcare providers' charges.

Before Howell received treatment, she was required by her providers, Scripps and CORE, to sign written agreements to be responsible for Scripps' and CORE's *full charges*. (2 A.A. 368–370.)

The "Agreement for Services at a Scripps Facility" stated:

"6. <u>Financial Arrangements</u>. . . . [T]he undersigned is obligated to pay the Facility's usual and customary charges for such services." (2 A.A. 368, boldface and underlining in original, italics added.)

Likewise, Howell's agreement with CORE stated:

"Please remember than insurance is considered a method of reimbursing the patient for fees paid to the doctor and is not a substitute for payment. . . . It is your responsibility to pay any co-insurance, or other balance not paid for by your insurance." (2 A.A. 370, italics added.)

Howell was contractually bound from the very outset to pay her providers' full charges. That is what the contract said. And undisputed expert testimony confirmed that, "Pursuant to such a contract, the patient is personally financially responsible for all of the medical providers' charges." (3 A.A. 593:2–3.) And there is no mention in her financial responsibility agreements of any negotiated price-differentials, write-offs, noncash indemnities—or whatever defendant wants to call them. What defendant asks the Court to do is this to rewrite those contracts to indulge the fiction that they do not mean what they say, which is that Howell incurred a debt for the full charges. Defendant was not a party to those contracts, but even if it were, the Court would not rewrite them. Courts "do not have the power to create for the parties a contract which they did not make and cannot insert language which one party now wishes were there." (ML Direct, Inc. v. TIG Specialty Ins. Co. (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 137, 142; Safeco Ins. Co. v. Robert S. (2001) 26 Cal.4th 758, 764 ["[C]ourts are not to insert what has been omitted."]; Code Civ. Proc., § 1858 [same].) And healthcare providers, no doubt, would be chagrined if this Court were to rewrite their contracts to eliminate a patient's agreed debt.

Defendant submitted no evidence to refute Howell's contractual duty to pay her providers' full charges. To the contrary, at trial, defendant stipulated that Howell's medical expenses totaled \$189,978.63. "We don't dispute it." (4 R.T. 214:15-16.) And in its posttrial reduction motion,

defendant submitted no evidence that the negotiated contractual allowances (noncash payments) were not provided as agreed consideration under the providers' contracts with Howell's insurer. (Indeed, defendant did not submit the written agreements between Howell's insurer and her providers or any evidence relating to those agreements.)

Defendant's only evidence was two posttrial declarations by hospital billing personnel. (1 A.A. 132–137.) Both declarations were hearsay, to which Howell objected. (3 A.A. 605:18.) Moreover, neither clerk purported to claim that Howell's contracts with the providers were a sham. And neither claimed that the full charges had not been incurred in the first instance. All they said was that the difference between the full, incurred charges and the cash payments by Howell's insurers had been "written off." (1 A.A. 133:9–13, 134:6–10, 135:4–8, & 137:9–12.) By stating that the difference had been written off, the clerks thus confirmed that it had been incurred in the first instance—precisely as Howell's financial—responsibility contracts provided. 15

Defendant claims, barely in passing, that Howell's providers had "previously agreed—prior to Howell's admission for services—to only recover a certain amount for service rendered." (Opening Brief, p. 19.) That misrepresents the record. *First*, defendant cites no evidence, rather, only to a trial court brief by Howell's counsel. (2 A.A. 345:1–3.) "[S]tatements of counsel are not evidence." (*People v. Redd* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 691, 727 & 743, fn. 25.) *Second*, Howell's counsel acknowledged only that her medical debts had been satisfied. He said nothing about when the debts were incurred or how they were satisfied.

Could defendant have presented evidence that the full charges were never incurred? Doubtful. But what matters for this case is that defendant failed to do so, reflecting its assumption that a *Hanif* reduction was to be had for the mere asking. Defendant thus failed to meet its burden of producing evidence and burden of proof. (Evid. Code, §§ 500 [proof] & 550 [production].)

Thus, whatever the rule may be in other cases, in this case, the Court of Appeal's *disposition* was correct even if this Court rejects its reasoning and extends *Hanif*. (*Brown v. Kelly Broadcasting Co.* (1989) 48 Cal.3d 711, 720 [affirming Court of Appeal decision on different grounds than used by the Court of Appeal]; *People v. Brookfield* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 583, 586 [same].)

PROCEDURAL ISSUES

If the Court holds that reductions based on negotiated price differentials, i.e., noncash indemnity—payments, are improper as a matter of substantive law, the Court will not need to address procedural issues. But if the Court permits such reductions, the Court will be required to promulgate a nonstatutory procedure for reduction requests because, as explained below, posttrial reduction—motions are not statutorily authorized. And regardless of what procedure the Court creates for future cases, the nonstatutory procedure used in this case was particularly improper and unfair and would require reversal of the reduction.

IX. THE REDUCTION WAS PROCEDURALLY IMPROPER.

Hanif has proved to be a Petri dish of "procedural confusion." (Olsen, supra, 164 Cal.App.4th at p. 213, fn. 3 [conc. opn. of Moore, J.].) Defendant's own amicus curiae characterize the situation as a "procedural mess." (Association of Southern California Defense Counsel, Jan. 20, 2010, Amicus Letter in Support of Review, p. 4.)

Most fundamentally, the posttrial reduction now sought by defendants in virtually all cases is a perversion of the trial process. Parties are not permitted to withhold evidence and then, after an unfavorable verdict, try to obtain a different result by submitting new evidence. But that is precisely what defendant did in this case. That is not the way trials are conducted. You try your case, you put on your evidence, and that is it. There are no mulligans.

Posttrial reduction-motions are improper in two other fundamental respects. *First*, they are not authorized by statute or decision. *Second*, they violate a plaintiff's constitutional right to a jury trial. Howell will first address the lack of statutory or case authority and then the constitutional problem.

A. POSTTRIAL REDUCTION-MOTIONS ARE NOT AUTHORIZED BY STATUTE.

Defendant points to no authority for a postjudgment *Hanif* motion untethered to any recognized statutory procedure. That such nonstatutory

motions are not generally allowed is further demonstrated by the one situation in which they *are* allowed—for public entity defendants under Government Code section 985, subdivision (b). That the Legislature chose to provide such a hearing only for public—entity defendants shows the Legislature did not intend such a hearing for private defendants. Moreover, if existing statutory procedures do not fit the relief that defendants seek, the solution lies with the Legislature. (That is one more reason why the Court should defer to the Legislature.)

B. CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE SECTIONS 657 AND 658 PROHIBIT DEFENDANTS FROM INTRODUCING POSTTRIAL EVIDENCE TO REDUCE DAMAGES.

Not only is there no statutory authority for so-called "Hanif motions," they are improper under the two statutory procedures that do exist for relief from a verdict or judgment: a motion for new trial and a motion to vacate.

A "Hanif motion" is a motion to reduce damages. The statutory procedure for seeking a damages reduction is a motion for new trial. But such a motion is not a permissible vehicle for seeking a so–called Hanif reduction. Code of Civil Procedure section 657 ("section 657") specifies seven grounds for a motion for new trial. A claim of "excessive damages" is the fifth ground; a claim that the verdict is against the law, e.g., legally improper damages, is the sixth ground.

Code of Civil Procedure section 658 ("section 658"), in turn, provides that "When the application [for a new trial] is made for a cause mentioned in the first, second, third, and fourth subdivisions of Section 657, it must be made upon affidavits; otherwise it must be made on the minutes of the court." (Italics added.) Thus, when a motion for new trial is made on the grounds of excessive damages (fifth ground) or improper damages (sixth ground), the motion must be decided only on the minutes of the court. No new evidence is permitted. That is what section 658 says; that is what it means. "[M]otions relying on the remaining three grounds [i.e., subdivisions 5, 6, and 7 of section 657] 'must be made on the minutes of the court.' (§ 658.)." (Wall Street Network Ltd. v. New York Times Co. (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 1171, 1192.) By definition, a so-called posttrial Hanif motion, as in the present case, is not made on the minutes of the trial but is based on new, posttrial evidence. Thus, a motion for new trial cannot serve as a vehicle for a posttrial *Hanif* reduction.

C. CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE SECTION 663 DOES NOT PERMIT A POST-VERDICT REDUCTION.

The other postjudgment statutory procedure is a motion to vacate the judgment under Code of Civil Procedure section 663. Defendant made such a motion. (1 A.A. 255–256.) The trial court never ruled on that motion, and defendant does not now rely on section 663. But in any event, section 663 is not a vehicle for a posttrial damages reduction.

Section 663 has two distinct provisions. In numbered paragraph 1, section 663 deals with a decision *by the court* and sets forth the grounds for vacating a *court* decision. In numbered paragraph 2, section 663 addresses the second situation—a *jury's* verdict.

For the paragraph dealing with verdicts, the only authorized basis for granting a motion to vacate is that the judgment is "not consistent with or supported by the special verdict." Defendant did not, and could not, contend the judgment was inconsistent with the jury verdict. They were identical—to the penny. (1 A.A. 118–119 [verdict]; 1 A.A. 177–178 [judgment].) Rather, defendant did not like the verdict because it reflected the full debt that Howell had incurred. But disappointment with the result is not an inconsistency under section 663. A motion to vacate is thus not a proper vehicle for seeking a reduction.

D. NO PRECEDENT PERMITS POSTTRIAL REDUCTION MOTIONS.

Defendant claims, "Of course, *Hanif* laid the foundation for a post—trial reduction (by an appellate court) of a medical specials award"

(Opening Brief, p. 52.) Not even close. *Hanif* was a *bench* trial. The reduction was dealt with *at trial*. There was no posttrial hearing. *Hanif* said nothing about such a hearing, and any such statement would have been dictum.

Defendant also contends a posttrial reduction is permitted by *Greer*, *supra*, 141 Cal.App.4th 1150. Quite the contrary. The *Greer* court specifically declined to address the propriety of a postjudgment motion because the defendant had failed to preserve that issue. (*Id.*, at p. 1158.)

Equally unavailing for the notion of a posttrial procedure is *Olsen*, *supra*, 164 Cal.App.4th 200. Indeed, defendant's distortion of *Olsen* is egregious. Defendant quotes this passage: "If the proper application of the collateral source rule includes reducing a verdict to the amount actually paid or incurred . . . a hearing is necessary and appropriate to determine the correct amount." (*Id.*, at p. 218.) This quote fails to support defendant.

First, and worse, the Olsen court said no such thing. Rather, the language is in a separate concurring opinion of Justice Fybel in which the other two justices declined to join. (Olsen, supra, 164 Cal.App.4th at pp. 214–218 [conc. opn. of Fybel, J.].)

Second, the Olsen court reversed a posttrial reduction. (Olsen, supra, 164 Cal.App.4th at p. 203.) They also made clear they were not endorsing a posttrial procedure. "The question of what form a motion to reduce the judgment under the purported Hanif/Nishihama rule should take is unclear, but need not be decided here." (Id., at p. 203, fn. 2.)

Moreover, even *Nishihama*, *supra*, 93 Cal.App.4th 298, so often viewed as *Hanif's* sibling, did not purport to approve or create a posttrial

procedure, even though one would have been proper under Government Code section 985 because the defendant was a public entity.

In short, there is no authority, either statutory or decisional, for a postjudgment reduction except under Government Code section 985 for public-entity defendants.

E. THE REDUCTION VIOLATED HOWELL'S RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL.

The amounts incurred and paid for Howell's past medical expenses (Choate v. County of Orange (2000) were disputed fact–questions. 86 Cal.App.4th 312, 321 ["What constitutes fair and reasonable compensation in a particular case is a question of fact."]; Torres v. City of Los Angeles (1962) 58 Cal.2d 35, 53.) The special verdict form directed the jury to determine the amount of damages, including past medical expenses, and the jury did so. (1 A.A. 118 [special verdict].) Plaintiffs are constitutionally and statutorily entitled to have all disputed fact questions, including damages, decided by a jury. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 16 ["Trial by jury is an inviolate right and shall be secured to all "]; Code Civ. Proc., § 631, subd. (a) ["The right to a trial by jury as declared by Section 16 of Article I of the California Constitution shall be preserved to the parties inviolate."]; Code Civ. Proc., § 592 ["[A]n issue of fact must be tried by a jury, unless a jury is waived."].)

Indeed, defendant's insurance—industry amici argue forcefully in this case that a posttrial *Hanif* reduction violates the right to a jury trial:

"[A] posttrial procedure to determine the appropriate damages for a plaintiff's medical expenses violates the right to trial by jury." (Personal Insurance Federation of California, Court of Appeal amicus brief, pp. 15–16.)

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